**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

**NO.: 19-0608**

---

**CHRISTY B. LOGAN**

**PRO SE Petitioner-Appellant,**

**vs.**

**THE BON TON STORES, INC.**

**and**

**LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE, CORP.**

**Respondents-Appellees**

---

**FINAL APPELLANT BRIEF**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT**

**IN AND FOR JOHNSON COUNTY, IOWA**

**THE HON. LARS ANDERSON, JUDGE**

**JOHNSON COUNTY NO.: CVCV080486**

---

**PETITIONER – APPELLANT’S BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENTS**

**CHRISTY B. LOGAN**  
**308 E. Burlington St., #221**  
**Iowa City, Iowa 52240**  
**Phone: 319-447-7883**  
**Email: [loganchristyb@gmail.com](mailto:loganchristyb@gmail.com)**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I.** According to the Iowa Supreme Court, substantial compliance with a statute is sufficient when it reasonably carries out the objective of the statute, and is a matter regarding the individual facts in a case. Therefore, based upon the facts in the Disposition of the Case in District Court, did the Claimant substantially comply and honor the intentions of Iowa Code 17A.19, by submitting a timely Petition on January 3, 2019, to the District Court and the Respondents, simultaneously through the Electronic Filing System and by facsimile? (**Appendix pp. 78-80 Motion To Appeal Commission Ruling, January 3, 2019**).
- II.** Did the District Court exercise any discretion when the Claimant requested an extension of time on January 28, 2019, to certify the petition to the Respondents by mail, considering the court had a timely electronic Petition on file, and all parties had been notified? (**Appendix pp. 84-85, Motion To Extend Time For Notice of Service For Judicial Review**).
- III.** Was the subsequent mailing of a certified copy of the Petition to the Respondents on February 19, 2019, an attempt by the Claimant to carry out the objective and intentions of the statute thereby allowing the court to gain jurisdiction? (**Appendix pp. 90-91, Certified Receipts to Respondents, their insurer, and the District Court.**)
- IV.** In the March 13, 2019, ruling from the District Court, did the court fail to exercise any discretion and consider the individual facts in the case or follow a strict and literal interpretation of the statute, 17A.19? (**Appendix pp. 92-95, District Court Ruling**).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Appellant asks the Iowa Supreme Court to retain this case on the basis that the issues set forth and presented are unique to the individual facts in this case, and further asks that it be analyzed according to the scope of this matter.

As such, the Appellant references *Ortiz vs. Loyd Construction and Grinnell Mutual Reinsurance* 928 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 2019), as a standard and lens with which the actions in this case might be viewed.

Since this case involves an issue that utilizes at least one method of “Notice of Service,” not [literally] addressed in the statute, the Appellant asks the Supreme Court to determine whether the objective and intent of the statute was sufficiently carried out in this matter.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. Nature of the Case**

This case involves an analysis and review of a Petition for Judicial Review submitted in the District Court of Johnson County on January 3, 2019. Claimant, Christy B. Logan, filed a timely Petition seeking relief from a Final Agency Ruling by the Iowa Worker's Compensation Commission on December 5, 2018, for work-related injuries sustained while employed with The Bon Ton Stores, Inc. Thus, this brief seeks to determine whether the Claimant substantially complied with Iowa Code, 17A.19, thus granting the court jurisdiction, in order to appeal the Agency Ruling and address her cause of action.

### **II. Case History**

Claimant, Christy B. Logan, was employed as a retail salesman in the Men's Department at Younkers in Coralville, Iowa, and maintained a relationship with the company from December 18, 2008 through August 20, 2018. In 2014, the claimant sustained injuries to her left knee on March 1, April 5, April 23, and October 18, on a frayed utility rug within her department. The Claimant reported each of these injuries in a timely manner to her immediate supervisor. (**Appendix pp. 13-18, Case Brief**). Despite these reports an accident report was not filed by the employer until May 24, 2014, for the first injury. (**Appendix p. 100, Bon Ton Accident Report**). No medical treatment or compensation was provided.

In June 2014, the claim was denied by Liberty Mutual Insurance Corp., citing a lack of proper notice and prior history of knee pain. On February 18, 2016, Claimant filed a Petition for medical benefits and compensation before the Iowa Worker's Compensation Commissioner. **(Appendix p. 4, Petition.)**

On June 21, 2018, a hearing was held before the Iowa Worker's Compensation Commission in Des Moines, Iowa.

On August 24, 2018, the Deputy Commissioner granted an adverse decision on the first three dates of injury.

On September 11, 2018, the Claimant appealed this decision to the Worker's Compensation Commissioner. **(Appendix pp. 58-68, Motion To Appeal Arbitration Ruling).**

On December 5, 2018, the Worker's Compensation Commissioner affirmed the August 24, 2018, ruling. **(Appendix pp. 75-77, Appeal Decision).**



### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN DISTRICT COURT**

On January 3, 2019, the Claimant filed a timely Petition for Judicial Review in the District Court of Johnson County, Iowa, through the Electronic filing system and added the names of the Respondent's Attorney(s) of Record in order to notify them of this filing and provide a copy of the Petition. **(Appendix pp. 78-80, Motion To Appeal Commission Ruling).**

Also, on January 3, 2019, the Claimant sent a copy of the Petition by facsimile to the Respondent's Attorney(s) of Record, and received a confirmation of this transaction. **(Appendix, pp. 101-103).** The Respondents have not asserted they did not receive either form of notification – electronically and by facsimile.

The Respondents have also claimed no prejudice by these actions. Prior to the District Court Proceeding, the Claimant and Respondents have been in on-going proceeding for years prior to this action, and as late as less than 30 days before submission for the Petition for Judicial Review.

On January 23, 2019, the Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss. **(Appendix pp. 81-83).**

On January 28, 2019, in response to the Motion to Dismiss, Claimant filed a Motion to Extend Time for Notice of Service, to submit a copy of the Petition by certified mail. **(Appendix pp. 84-85).**

On February 11, 2019, the District Court issued an order asking the Respondents to respond to the Claimant's Motion to Extend Time for Notice of Service. The response was due by February 19, 2019.

On February 15, 2019, the Respondents submitted a reply to the Motion to Extend Time for Notice of Service. (**Appendix pp. 86-87**).

On February 19, 2019, between the filings of the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and the Respondents' reply to the Motion to Extend Time for Notice of Service, the Claimant awaited and had anticipated a ruling from the court in response to the Motion Extend Time for Notice of Service, which is why the Claimant did not mail the petition at this interval. (**Appendix pp. 88-89**).

In their reply, the Respondents' noted they had not yet received the mailed petition. "Petitioner has yet to serve her petition on the counsel of record," the Respondent's stated. The Claimant then mailed a certified copy of the Petition on February 19, 2019, to the Respondents' and asked the court to accept this action as proof of attempting to comply with the statute. (**Appendix pp. 90-91**).

On March 13, 2019, the District Court granted the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss for Judicial Review. (**Appendix pp. 92-94**).

On April 12, 2019, Claimant filed a Motion to Appeal the District Court Ruling. (**Appendix pp. 96-99**).

## ARGUMENT

Historically, the State Supreme has addressed the matter of compliance with Iowa Code 17A.19, by carefully examining each case on its individual merits, rather than with broad sweeping generalizations. As such, previous opinions have addressed the issue of “intent and objective” in their analysis of substantial compliance. We find this argument most notably in *Ortiz vs. Loyd Roling Construction and Grinnell Mutual Reinsurance* 928 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 2019).

Upon assessing the facts in *Ortiz*, the actions of the Appellant in *Logan vs. Bon Ton* are noteworthy and parallel to those in *Ortiz*.

In their attempt to carry out the intent and objective of the statute, both Appellant’s attorney’s timely notified the Appellee of the Petition for Judicial Review, initially through the Electronic Filing System (EDMS), and then by a form of communication not expressly stated in the statute. In *Ortiz*, email. In *Logan vs. Bon Ton*, facsimile. Each Appellant further submitted a copy of the Petition by mail more than ten days after the filing of the Petition. In *Logan vs. Bon Ton*, this mailing was certified.

While this brief points to similarities in the cases, compliance with the statute examines the individual facts in each case. As such, the Appellant in *Logan vs. Bon Ton* finds that the District Court followed a strict and literal interpretation in the application of the statute. The fact that other forms of communication are not “strictly” prohibited, connotes that perhaps the legislature wanted to leave future methods open on a case by case basis. Therefore, the Appellant argues in *Logan* that the attempts made to properly notify parties in the matter should not be considered a fatal judicial error, void of intent.

## **CONCLUSION**

Bearing the argument in mind, the Claimant asks that the opinion in this case reversed and returned to District for Judicial Review, on the basis that the Claimant sought to fulfill the intentions of 17A.19 as to carry out its objective and intent.

## **REQUESTS FOR ORAL ARGUMENTS**

Appellant requests this case be submitted for oral arguments.