IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

CASE NO. 19-0608

CHRISTY B. LOGAN, Appellant,

v.

THE BON TON STORES, INC., and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE CO.,
Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY

HON. LARS ANDERSON

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

GREFE & SIDNEY, P.L.C.
Andrew D. Hall AT0003154
Aaron W. Lindebak AT0011917
500 E. Court Ave., Ste. 200
Des Moines, IA 50309
Phone: (515) 245-4300
Fax: (515) 245-4452
ahall@grefesidney.com
alindebak@grefesidney.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES
THE BON TON STORES INC. AND
LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE
CO.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Faxing A Petition Does Not Satisfy The Service Requirements of 17A.19(2).

CASES

Brown v. John Deere Waterloo Tractor Works, 423 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 1988)

Ortiz v. Loyd Roling Constr. and Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance, 928 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 2019)

STATUTES AND RULES

Iowa Code Section 17A.19(2) (2017)

Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.442(2)

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Jonathan Coppersmith, Faxed: The Rise and Fall of the Fax Machine (2015)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves application of existing principles of law and should be routed to the Iowa Court of Appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from the dismissal of a Petition for Judicial Review of an Iowa Workers' Compensation Commission ruling because Plaintiff failed to substantially comply with Iowa Code section 17A.19(2) requirements for service.

On January 3, 2019, Appellant Christy B. Logan ("Logan") filed a "Judicial Review: Motion to Appeal Commission Ruling" with the District Court. Logan sought review of a decision of the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commissioner denying Logan workers' compensation benefits. App. 78.

On January 3, 2019, Logan faxed a file-stamped copy of the Petition for Judicial Review to counsel for Appellees, The Bon Ton Stores and Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. ("Bon Ton"). App. 82.

On January 23, 2019, Bon Ton filed a Motion to Dismiss Petition for Judicial Review. Bon Ton argued Logan did not comply with the service requirements of Iowa Code section 17A.19(2), because Logan only faxed a copy of her Petition to counsel, rather than serving Bon Ton or counsel in the manner set forth in Iowa Code section 17A.19(2). Bon Ton argued the District Court lacked jurisdiction due to the lack of proper service and that the Court dismiss the Petition. App. 81-83.

On January 28, 2019, Logan filed a Motion to Extend Time for Notice of Service for Judicial Review. Logan asserted she substantially complied with Iowa Code section 17A.19(2). Logan argued Bon Ton's counsel was aware of "all past and current actions in this matter" and she sought an extension of time to properly serve Bon Ton in order to give the District Court jurisdiction over the controversy. App. 84-85.

On February 19, 2019, Logan filed copies of U.S. Postal Service

Certified Mail Receipts, to prove service of the Petition on Liberty Mutual

Insurance Co. and counsel. The receipts show mailing on February 19, 2019.

App. 90; App. 91.

On March 13, 2019, the District Court granted Bon Ton's Motion to Dismiss for lack of service and denied Logan's motion to extend time for service. App. 92-95.

Logan now appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 18, 2016, Logan filed a Petition with the Iowa Workers Compensation Commission alleging she suffered a work place injury at the Younkers in Iowa City on March 1, 2014.

On April 4, 2016, she filed Petitions alleging further injuries occurred on April 4, April 23, and October 18, 2014. Bon Ton was her employer on the dates of all alleged injuries. Bon Ton denied her complaints arouse out of her employment but instead argued her complaints were an ongoing manifestation of a pre-existing condition. The matter went to hearing on June 21, 2018. App. 46.

On August 24, 2018, the Deputy Commissioner found that Logan failed to carry her burden to prove she sustained injuries arising out of and in the course of her employment on the March 1, April 4, and April 23, 2014, dates of alleged injury. App. 55.

The Deputy did determine that Logan sustained a work-related injury to her left knee on October 18, 2014, however the Deputy found that Logan failed to carry her burden that the October 18, 2014, injury caused any temporary or permanent disability. The Deputy found Bon Ton was only responsible for Logan's medical appointment with Dr. John Albright, M.D.,

performed on October 30, 2014. No other workers' compensation benefits were awarded. App. 55.

The Deputy's ruling was affirmed in its entirety by a final agency decision on December 5, 2018. App. 77.

On January 3, 2019, Logan filed what constituted a Petition for Judicial Review of the decision by the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commissioner under Iowa Code section 17A.19 and Iowa Code section 86.26. App. 78. On January 3, 2019, Logan faxed a file-stamped copy of the Petition for Judicial Review to counsel for Bon Ton. App. 82.

On January 23, 2019, Bon Ton filed a Motion to Dismiss Petition for Judicial Review. Bon Ton argued Logan did not comply with the service requirements of Iowa Code section 17A.19(2), because Logan faxed a copy of her Petition to counsel, rather than serving Bon Ton or counsel in the manner set forth in Iowa Code section 17A.19(2). App. 81-83. Bon Ton argued the District Court lacked jurisdiction due to the lack of proper service and therefore, the Court should dismiss the Petition. Id.

On January 28, 2019, Logan filed a Motion to Extend Time for Notice of Service for Judicial Review. Logan asserted she substantially complied with Iowa Code section 17A.19(2). Logan also argued Bon Ton's counsel

was aware of "all past and current actions in this matter" and she sought an extension of time to properly serve Bon Ton.

On February 15, 2019, Bon Ton replied to Logan's Motion to Extend Time of Service. Bon Ton rested on its Motion to Dismiss. Bon Ton's reply also stated Logan still had not served her Petition by that date. App. 86.

On February 19, 2019, Logan filed a Response to Bon Ton's reply stating she asked the District Court for time to properly serve the Petition. That same day, Logan filed copies of U.S. Postal Service Certified Mail Receipts, purporting to show service of the Petition on Liberty and counsel on February 19, 2019. App. 91.

On March 13, 2019, the District Court granted Bon Ton's Motion to Dismiss and denied Logan's Motion to Extend Time for Service. App. 92-95.

Logan now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. FAXING A PETITION TO COUNSEL OF RECORD DOES NOT STATISFY THE SERVICE REQUIREMENTS OF IOWA CODE SECTION 17A.19(2).

Scope and Standard of Review

The Court reviews this case to correct errors of law. *Oritz v. Loyd Roling Constr. Co. and Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance*, 928 N.W.2d 651, 653 (Iowa 2019). Substantial, not literal compliance, is needed to comply with section 17A.19(2). *Brown v. John Deere Waterloo Tractor Works*, 423 N.W.2d 193, 194 (Iowa 1988).

A. Logan Did Not Comply With The Statutory Language of Iowa Code Section 17A.19(2)

Iowa Code section 17A.19(2) requires:

Within ten days after the filing of a petition for judicial review the petitioner shall serve by the means provided in the Iowa rules of civil procedure for the personal service of an original notice, or shall mail copies of the petition to all parties named in the petition and, if the petition involves review of agency action in a contested case, all parties of record in that case before the agency. Such personal service or mailing shall be jurisdictional. The delivery by personal service or mailing referred to in this subsection may be made upon the party's attorney of record in the proceeding before the agency. A mailing shall be addressed to the parties or their attorney of record at their last known mailing address. Proof of mailing shall be by affidavit.

Iowa Code § 17A.19(2) (2017).

The statute provides two options for service in a judicial review proceeding following a contested agency action: (1) service by means

provided in the Iowa Rules for Civil Procedure for personal service of an original notice; or (2) service by mailing copies of the petition to all parties named in the petition and all parties of record in the case before the agency. Either option can be completed on the party's attorney of record in the agency action.

Logan did not mail the Petition until February 19, 2019. Logan did not complete service within the 10 days as required by the statutory language of 17A.19(2) and, therefore, did not substantially comply with the requirements of 17A.19(2) as written.

B. Plaintiff Did Not Substantially Comply With The Statutory Service Requirements Following The Iowa Supreme Court's Ruling in *Ortiz* Because Faxing Is Not E-mail

Logan asserts she substantially complied with the service requirement by faxing the Judicial Review Petition to counsel the day it was filed with the District Court. She argues she carried out the intent of the statute by using a modern form of communication to comply with service. After the ruling by the District Court in this case, the Iowa Supreme Court issued its ruling in *Ortiz v. Loyd Roling Constr. Co. and Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance*, 928 N.W.2d 651, 653 (Iowa 2019).

In *Ortiz*, the Iowa Supreme Court discussed substantial compliance under 17A.19(2). *Oritz*, 928 N.W.2d at 653-54. In *Oritz*, the issue before the

Court was whether e-mailing a Petition for Judicial Review to counsel of record constituted substantial compliance with 17A.19(2). *Id*. The Supreme Court held e-mail between counsel properly constituted service under section 17A.19(2). *Id*. at 655.

The Court noted e-mail was not a common form of communication in 1977 when the statute was enacted or in 1981 when the statute was amended but e-mail constitutes the common form of communication today. *Id.* at 653.¹ Specifically, the Court said in interpreting the statute:

Our legislature used the word "mail" in 1975 and 1981 to describe current routine systematic methods of sending written communications. At the time, the current method was postal service. But this, however, should not preclude the word to apply to a means of communication that would later displace postal mail as the standard and most reliable means of routine, reliable communication.

Id. at 655.

Underlying the Court's holding was that the interpretation of the statute:

promotes the objects of the statute to provide a reliable and convenient form of communication and is consistent with the common and expected manner that lawyers send and receive legal documents in Iowa today. Any other method of communication would be unexpected and jeopardize the purpose of the statute.

¹ The Court also noted that Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442(2) allows for service by e-mail. That same rule allows for service by fax. See Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.442(2) ("Service shall be made by ... transmitting by fax (facsimile) a copy to the attorney or to the party at the attorney's or party's last known address.").

Id.

However, the Iowa Supreme Court acknowledged "the leeway permitted under the substantial-compliance doctrine would not normally include using a means of communication different than provided under the statute." *Id.* at 654. But the Court noted that e-mail is now the common form of communication between attorneys and "replaced postal mail as the normal means to transmit legal documents among lawyers. This displacement draws emails into the circle of substantial compliance." *Id.*

Fax is not e-mail. Unlike e-mail, fax has not replaced postal mail as the standard, most reliable, or normal means of communication. Instead, the fax machine has gone the way of the telegraph, Morse Code, or pager. It was e-mail that replaced the fax as the primary way of sending documents electronically. Today, the common way to send documents is to scan the documents and send it via e-mail to the recipient. It is not to send a fax.

While a fax is certainly a more recent development as a form of communication than a physical letter, it was not unheard of when the legislature passed 17A. The fax machine was invented in the 1840s. In the 1968 movie *Bullitt* staring Steve McQueen, McQueen's character receives a fax of a passport while working in a police station. The 1970s, 1980s, and 1990s experienced a dramatic increase in the use of fax machines to send

documents. Yet, despite the growing prevalence of the fax machine, the legislature did not include it as a proper form of service to serve a judicial review petition. The legislature was certainly aware of the existence of fax machines in the 38 years since the section was amended in 1981 yet they never chose to amend the section to allow service by fax.

Today, faxing is not a current form of communication but instead an obsolete technology. *See* Jonathan Coppersmith, <u>Faxed: The Rise and Fall of the Fax Machine</u> 8 (2015) ("My procrastination has thus enabled me to report the obsolescence and decline of faxing.").

Moreover, had the Supreme Court wanted to include faxes as substantially complying with 17A.19(2), the Court could have extended the forms of communication that satisfy substantial compliance beyond e-mail. Instead, the Court solely found that e-mail complied with the statute. In allowing e-mail, the Court stated "Any other method of communication would be unexpected and jeopardize the purpose of the statute." *Ortiz*, 928 N.W.2d at 655. Fax is a different form of communication and is not the common method of communication in today's society.

Fax does not substantially comply with the statute under the Iowa Supreme Court's most recent interpretation of 17A.19(2). Therefore, Logan did not substantially comply with the service requirements 17A.19(2).

CONCLUSION

Since the neither the statutory language nor the Supreme Court's interpretation in *Oritz* allows for the faxing of a judicial review petition to satisfy the service requirements under 17A.19(2), the district court should be affirmed and the case dismissed.

REQUEST FOR NON-ORAL SUBMISSION

The Appellees believe this case can be decided on the briefs without the assistance of oral argument. However, if oral argument is granted, the Appellees request the opportunity to be heard.